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SENATOR DEAN FLOREZ:  Okay.  Good morning.  Let’s go ahead and begin the hearing.  I do want to thank everyone for coming.  This the Joint Hearing of the Senate Governmental Organization Committee and the Senate Select Committee on Air Quality.  Today’s title is The Administration’s Claim of Privilege Over GM’s Flex-Fuel Program Documents and a Review of DGS’s Policy of Promoting GM’s National Advertising Campaign for Flex-Fuel Vehicles.

I’m Senator Dean Florez, chairman of the committee.  I want to thank everyone for joining us.  I do also want to lay out a couple of parameters for the hearing before we begin.


First and foremost, I do want to say we’ll be exploring two recent developments in the committee’s ongoing examination of the state’s purchase of flex-fuel vehicles.  It’s come to this committee’s attention that at least one state vehicle and possibly more are being used to promote General Motor’s Live Green Go Yellow national advertising campaign.  This morning we’re going to explore whether or not this is consistent with state laws and policies relating to the use of state property.
Secondly, as most of you know, the committee has asked for and received a number of documents from the administration and various state agencies—General Motors and Chevron—regarding the state’s flex-fuel vehicle purchase and E85 demonstration project.  These documents thus far have helped us quite a bit in terms of shedding some light on what I am at this point very comfortable in saying or characterizing as a sole-source contract with General Motors.  However, I can say that the administration had just informed the committee last week that it has withheld some key documents as privileged, claiming they relate to the deliberative processes within the Governor’s Office.  I do think that withholding these documents relating to a sole-source contract is a mistake.  And needless to say, it will not go unchallenged by this committee.  It’s clear that California courts have held that there is no absolute privilege for the administration to withhold such information and instead a balancing test must be used to determine whether the interest of justice support revealing the documents.  Because these documents relate to the state’s contracting process with GM following a major shift in purchasing policy that ultimately, in my view, favored GM, it’s my opinion that, in order to provide the documents to us and the public, it is better, hopefully, in the interest of justice.

Furthermore, the committee has evidence that the Governor’s Office may have paid a much larger role in the purchase of GM flex-fuel vehicles.  As one DGS employee wrote in an agency email, the committee has obtained, and I’ll quote, “There is a need to add a class of vehicles to the vehicle bid.  It is E85 vehicles.  This is per the governor’s request.”

Now I’m not sure what role the governor played in this seemingly sole-source contract.  I will say that this question obviously is not going to go away.  The committee intends to follow through on this examination, and we plan to hold future hearings and use the appropriate means necessary to obtain complete and accurate answers from the administration.

I know that most of you know that obviously from my vantage point withholding critical documents is certainly not the right course, given this governor’s longstanding, close relationship with General Motors.  For this administration, this is a relationship that has brought the use of GM cars and drivers on official trade trips to Japan and China.  It’s free use of a hydrogen-powered Hummer and other direct benefits to the governor himself.  Why the administration benefited from this relationship with GM, the question is raised by this committee is whether it’s a good relationship for the taxpayers of the state of California.  Since the administration, I believe, is not going to be testifying today or have not sent a representative, I think we’re going to probably have more discussions with the administration on the nature of the privileged claim, and I may seek Senate Rules to help us compel some method in order to obtain the information as being requested.  That’s one part of the hearing.


The other part, which I’m going to spend a lot more time on, given we have the requisite folks to testify, has to do with the fact that we have state vehicles that seemingly promote a GM national advertising campaign, and we have Mr. Will Semmes here from the Department of General Services to testify.


And Mr. Semmes, you can come forward.  And as you’re coming forward, let me say that the committee wants to better understand how DGS is applying state laws and policies regarding the use of state property for advertising and in particular GM flex-fuel vehicles purchased by the state.


Now the questions I have obviously are, Are we bending the rules for GM?  For example, who authorized placing decals, advertising GM’s website on state vehicles?  And you should know the committee—and obviously I think we’ve shared with you—has recently received photos of a state-owned Chevrolet Impala, license plates 1237430, that bears the Live Green Go Yellow distinctive logos and decals which GM advertises on their website.  And after receiving these photos, the committee has requested the Department of General Services to provide more information, and thank you very much for what you provided thus far.

I can tell you that we want to ask you obviously to explain how promoting a specific vehicle manufacturer is consistent with state law and the relevant policies. I also believe that in many cases, your response lacked a few details and quite frankly appeared to be somewhat of an attempt to avoid answering specific questions posed by the committee to DGS.  That’s why you’ve been asked to appear.  We have a few more questions so we can get some clarity on it, and I do have a long list of questions.  I’d like to know if I can go through those with you.  I don’t know if you have an opening statement but probably allow us to proceed a lot quicker, if I can just…

MR. WILLIAM W. SEMMES:  Well, sir, I just wanted to let you know we brought with us some…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And please, and maybe you can introduce your…


MR. SEMMES:  Thank you.  I’m Will Semmes, chief deputy director of the Department of General Services, and I brought with me today—here is Rick Shedd who’s assistant chief in the Office of Fleet Administration, and he’s been working on this program for about seven years.  And I brought also chief deputy director of the Air Resources Board, Tom Cackette, to help with any of the questions about the MOU…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So we’ve got Air Resources Board and…


MR. SEMMES:  DGS.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  DGS and yourself, correct?


MR. SEMMES:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  Let’s go ahead and let’s just get a broad, if we could, picture on advertising on state property from your perspective.  And what is your understanding of California law in terms of allowing companies, such as General Motors, to advertise on state property and specifically on state vehicles?


MR. SEMMES:  Well, sir, we provided you with a document.  If you see Part 2 of 2 on the informational hearing that there’s a pretty good history of these vehicles, of a number of different types of vehicles, whether it’s propane, CNG, methanol, E85, or fuel cell, to have decals on them that are paid for by the manufacturers, and it’s a way to promote the different type of technology to the state so that the other agencies that are out there use them, and we want them to use them.  And so if you go through the document here, it’ll show you that deliberative process of who talks about what, you know, part of what advertising goes on what cars, and Rick can probably shed a little bit of light on that as well.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.  And as you’re answering, let’s go back to the original question, and that is, Does the law allow for this type of activity?  And it’s more of a policy question.  We’ll get more to more specifics on the actual cars.  But just broadly for the committee, I mean, does the law allow for this type of activity?

MR. SEMMES:  It does, Senator.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Can you give us the cite in law that…

MR. SEMMES:  I believe that we provided that to your office already, and I may have to ask one of our folks here to get that specific piece…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  As we’re going through this, maybe they can.  But are there no prohibitions in terms of respect to advertising on state vehicles?  I mean, is there any…


MR. SEMMES:  Well, if you want to be careful about it just because you don’t want to make—you want to make sure that there’s no impression, that there’s some kind of odd relationship, particularly for all the workers at fleet who try very hard to make sure that these procurements are done properly and the folks in the procurement division as well, so…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. SEMMES:  …you know, though, to green the fleet and this is one way to promote it.

MR. RICK SHEDD:  I believe there may be a prohibition on political advertising.  That’s the only one I’m familiar with.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  In law?


MR. SHEDD:  I believe so.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So we’re not sure whether the law ultimately has a prohibition on private-vendor advertising on state cars.  Is that what you’re telling me?


MR. SHEDD:  That’s my understanding.  I’ve never seen of such.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Given that there’s no law, there’s obviously no prohibition as well.


MR. SEMMES:  Well, the prohibition is against personal use really and that the law basically says—it’s Government Code 8314—and it states that it’s unlawful for any elected state officer, including any state appointee or employee to use or permit others to use public resources for personal or other unauthorized purposes.  Personal purpose means activities for which the purpose is for personal enjoyment, private gain or advantage, or an outside endeavor not related to state business.  So it seems pretty clear. 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, I mean, it’s clear in terms of somebody using of car for personal use.  I guess the question is whether or not a state car should be reflective of private companies advertising.  You’ve given us a list.  We’ll go through that earlier.  But I think what you’re saying is—and correct me if I’m wrong—but I think you’re saying that there is prohibition in law, there’s no law specifically that gives us any guidance in terms of policy for advertising on state cars basically; is that correct?


MR. SEMMES:  I’m unaware of one.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And so is it, given that there’s no law or there’s no prohibition, if we go back to Mister—I’ll use your words, Mr. Semmes—you said, we don’t want to have the impression of odd relationships.  That’s your words, not mine.  What is an impression of an odd relationship?


MR. SEMMES:  Well, this whole thing that you’ve brought up about somehow GM being involved with our procurement.  I mean, our procurement staff find that insulting, frankly, and that they worked very hard to make sure that there is no impression of that which is why you see, of the thousands and thousands of documents we provided you, a lot of people in DGS are trying to keep things very separate.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  And so would a car that has Chevrolet on the top and flex fuel, to you, the line is totally appropriate in terms of that advertising?


MR. SEMMES:  You know, there’s a badge on every single car in the state fleet.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.  Do you review the contents then?  I mean, given—I mean, would you say that cars advertising has some relationship to some sort of partnership with the state, or is this some sort of a hands-off relationship or is this just…


MR. SEMMES:  It’s really just the promotion of the technology, of getting people to realize that there are alternatives, and getting people fired up to do it.  I mean, you can make laws all day long for certain things, but people are going to find loopholes.  We want to get people excited about it, to foster sustainable behavior and to get people excited about greening the fleet.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  Well, to do that…


MR. SEMMES:  Because it’s got cool factor as well.  I mean, you know, it’s powered with corn.  I mean, that’s pretty wild.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No, no.  I get it.  But you’ve got to have the fuel, right?  I mean, we go back to the last hearing.


MR. SEMMES:  Right. and we’re powering, you know.  At our last hearing, we discussed that and we’re powering—we’re pumping E85 from the state garage today.  We started doing that a couple of weeks ago, and we’ve got a game plan to keep retrofitting the garages around the state and we’re going to take a tank out to CHP so they can drive their Ford Crown Victoria E85s, on E85 as well.  So I think the folks who have been working on this for some time like Rick are probably pretty psyched that they’re seeing this all come together.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, maybe you can tell us how it’s coming together as we go through this.  I guess I’m not seeing that.


To get more specific on the advertising policy for the state, then are there any limits in terms of advertising on state property?  I mean, any for-profit group can put a sticker on it.  If I’m, you know, an auto dealer and I decided to sell this, I can put my sticker on it as well as…

MR. SEMMES:  Well, I think, if Coalinga Motors wanted to put a sticker on it, I think that might be…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Holiday Ford in Shafter wants to…


MR. SEMMES:  I think that that’s something we’d have to go through delivery of process to look at.


SENATOR FLOREZ:   You can put it on every car and—is there a limit to that?


MR. SEMMES:  I think you see it with what we do today which is that you have promotions of the technology, not necessarily a particular car dealer.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of the policy and the limits, I mean, the policy then is just one of the direct—who makes the decision ultimately on advertising?

MR. SEMMES:  The law does.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What’s that?


MR. SEMMES:  The law does and then you interpret the law.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, I thought we just made clear four questions ago that the law is pretty silent on this in terms of prohibitions and…


MR. SEMMES:  It’s prohibitions against personal use, and so we’re not using it for personal use and we’re not promoting a particular, you know, dealer or anything like that, and we’ve been doing it for a number of years.  There are a lot more compressed natural gas cars with stickers on them.  If you look at Page 2 of that document—and you’ve seen them around the state—the fuel-cell vehicles have got F-Cell written all over them.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. SEMMES:  I mean, it’s just sort of been doing it for some time.  Nobody’s had a problem with it.  We’d like to see people getting more excited with the technologies and, you know, we’ll keep doing this.


MR. SHEDD:  Senator, if I may provide an explanation of how that particular graphic got on that particular car.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  Well, let’s hold for that.


MR. SEMMES:  I guess it’s sort of just important, Senator, that the fuel cell—I mean, this is a completely brand new technology.  I think that’s even more far out as far as immediate fuel.  I think it’d be sort of helpful to hear Rick on it.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Here’s what I’m trying to do.  I’m just trying to find out, number one, what the policies are.  I mean, this is a policy committee.  I mean, before we get into the specifics—and I’m going to ask you a lot of questions about that—I just want to know if in law is some sort of prohibition about any private company deciding to come in and put whatever they want on a car, or is this a judgment made by the administration’s, whoever’s running DGS at the time or whoever makes the decision?  I’m not sure who makes the decision.  I mean ultimately makes the decision of what is good advertising and what isn’t good advertising?

I mean, you mentioned, Mr. Semmes, you know, we don’t want to have the impression of odd relationships, and yet this car looks just like GM’s website which is promoting itself and, you know, there seems to be, you know, one of these relationships where, you know, we’re in essence backing their website and their website is backing the car.  Is that appropriate for you?  I mean, is that fine?
MR. SEMMES:  We’ve been doing it—I mean, you can see the list here since 1994 with compressed natural gas.  And, you know, Honda has been the only bidder on the compressed natural gas vehicles for the last, what, four or five years?  And it’s written on their cars and it’s never been a problem.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And is there an opportunity for you to, given that it matches—let’s use this, for example.  Do you review, let’s say, Chevrolet’s flex-fuel E85 advertisement, campaign we talked about earlier, the Live Green Go Yellow?  Do you review that periodically to see if it actually is matching or advertising it?  You say it’s okay to do that.

MR. SEMMES:  It seems to me there would generally be a case-by-case basis because it’s unusual.  I mean, only three cars with that particular logo on it, yet there are a ton more with CNG on it.

Rick, do you have anything you want to say on that?

MR. SHEDD:  Well, if I may, Senator, to give you a little bit of context to how these decals came to be, we’ve been actively trying to encourage high visibility in the alt-fuel program for many years, almost 15 years.  And to do that, some of the things we do is, we go to clean air fairs.  We go to the GTC Conference; we go to all kinds of places where we can display the new technology when the hybrid vehicles came about.  We were doing it with hybrids when…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Hybrids meaning Honda or something of that sort?

MR. SHEDD:  Correct, and Toyota.  When the hydrogen fuel-cell vehicles came out….

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Any advertising on the Hondas?  I’ve never seen one on a state car.

MR. SHEDD:  There’s no advertising per se.  There’s labels that designate clean-air vehicles, CNG, things of that nature.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  A big Honda on it, real large…

MR. SHEDD:  Not in the case of those CNG vehicles on that list.  In the case of, for an example, at the GTC conference, we would…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Honda.com, like this one does?

MR. SHEDD:  I don’t believe so.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We’re advertising their website.  You know, at what point does the amount in advertising for a private company…

MR. SEMMES:  It does on the fuel-cell vehicles.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So Honda.com on it?

MR. SEMMES:  It’s Mercedes Benz and Ford.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. SHEDD:  Those have some rather large displays.  The Nissan vehicle that we displayed at GTC several years ago had large Nissan displays.  We had a storyboard from Nissan displaying their technology and how their company had arrived at the fuel-cell technology.  We did the same thing this last year with Ford Motor Company having their vehicle displayed with a large Ford…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me ask a bigger question, given all of this that you’ve mentioned.  Is the fact that we allow everyone to do it, or have you decided a few folks other than GM to do it, does it make it right?

MR. SHEDD:  Yes, sir, it does.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why is it right?  Because I can’t find anything in law that allows…

MR. SHEDD:  Because we are trying to promote the alternative-fuel technology and we’re trying to get high visibility and shine some light on it so that especially in state government, if we can get the departments to adopt it and have us lead the way so that the public sector will also do so.

MR. SEMMES:  And we finally got law enforcement behind using alternative-fuel vehicles with CHP buying all those Fords.  So, I mean, it’s working.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And we did it because we’re advertising CHP…

MR. SEMMES:  Because we’re greening the fleet, and this is one of the technologies that we’re using of many.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  No.  I understand that.

MR. SEMMES:  Because, you know, a final technology hasn’t been selected like gasoline was a hundred years ago, so it’s still an effort.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And again then, if you can maybe summarize for the record then, what’s the process for authorizing the placement of advertising on state vehicles?

MR. SHEDD:  Well, the process in this particular case was a group of us at Fleet Administration…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  In general, since you guys want to go general.  I mean, in general….

MR. SEMMES:  We’re happy to go case by case on it, Senator.  Either way is fine with us.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We’re going to go case by case on it.

MR. SEMMES:  Okay.  So do we want to start with ethanol…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Mr. Semmes, actually, what I’d like to do is run my committee; and if we can go through my questions, that will be great.  But if you’d like to jump around, we can jump around all day long.  We’ll be here all day.  I don’t think we need to do that.

MR. SEMMES:  We’re on the clock too, so either way is fine with us.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  Let m—again, the process for authorizing the placement of advertisements, the process.  What’s the process?  GM walks in the door and says, hey, got these stickers.  You mind if we put them on?  Somebody in your department says, why not, or what’s the process?

MR. SHEDD:  The process in that case, somebody would probably bring it to our attention and ask if it would be all right.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Who’s they bring it to your attention, and who is we would authorize it?  Give me specifics.

MR. SHEDD:  Someone in our office at Fleet Administration.  If someone wanted to put stickers on our vehicles, on General Services’ vehicles, we would have to authorize that at our level.  I don’t know that anyone’s ever done that.  In my tenure, they’ve not.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Then how did the stickers end up on cars if no one’s ever done that?
MR. SHEDD:  We approached the manufacturer to find out if there was decals like the ones they had displayed at our Earth Day event and at the event where we had at the community center, the Green Summit event.  We had those vehicles.  General Motors was invited, as well as other green type of companies, to display their vehicles.  We had Ford.  And when we had this Impala that we were using for those types of things, we didn’t have any labeling for it per se.  I had requested my staff to look into what a wrap would cost, and it came back very cost prohibitive.  So the next time we saw one of these Impalas displayed at one of these green events, we asked the manufacturer’s representative, Is this an item you can purchase?  Is it something that is available?  And that’s how that started; it started with us approaching the manufacturer to see if we could get it a hold of one.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Just so I’m clear, I’ve got some more questions about that.  So this is the state approaching the manufacturer?

MR. SHEDD:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Would you say that adds value to the manufacturer?  I mean, you’re advertising their website.  I mean, it’s the state going to the manufacturer and saying, look, we really like this and we’d like to put it on our cars.  I mean…

MR. SHEDD:  Well, we put it on one car for display.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, one car.  If you’re GM, I mean, does that add value to GM, particularly, as it backs up their website?

MR. SHEDD:  It adds value to our alternative-fuel program which is what we were trying to add value to.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Got it.  But how does it value—you have one car—you just said it—and that adds value to our alternative-fuel process.  But does it add value to GM?  I mean, are we going to companies and saying, look, we’d really like to put your decals on; we’d really like to put your website up on a state car?  I mean, is that…

MR. SEMMES:  Remember, the point of these decals is promoting the type of technology, not necessarily whoever, you know, might have sold us the car.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why Chevrolet on them?  Why didn’t you just put Flex Fuel E85 Ethanol on the side of the car?  Why are we putting in broad letters, you know, Chevrolet or GM or whatever?

MR. SHEDD:  Well, it’s my understanding that that decal was a package.  All of the decals that go across the window, as you see in the photograph along the sides and the back, were part of a part number that you order and put on as one piece.

MR. SEMMES:  It’s just one car.  If you want us to take it off, we’ll take it off.  It’s not…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s not the fact that….

MR. SEMMES:  …going to stress us either way because it’s one car.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  I guess what I’m trying to understand is how we make determinations to allow or disallow advertising on state vehicles, and particularly from a GM point of view, because the other way to look at it—and I’ll maybe ask a question about this in a moment—but when we actually put on their website—let’s use GM for example, since we’re talking about that—you know, we put their website on and we put, and advertising on a state vehicle, we’re adding value to GM.  The last time I read the California Constitution, we’re not supposed to be giving—it’s against the law to be giving private companies using state resources value, period.  I mean, so I’m kind of wondering, either we’re giving them value and breaking the law or this is a real value to us.  And I think, if it was a real value to us, we would—did we pay for these?
MR. SHEDD:  I’m told we did not.

MR. SEMMES:  No, we did not pay for this.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, so I’m just trying to understand…

MR. SEMMES:  We see more of the value for us and the promotion of technology because we’re trying to green the fleet, and this is one way to do it.  Again, there aren’t that many cars out of the 50,000 that the state has.  So, I mean, it’s a pretty small number.  Some of these have been on cars, you know, since 1994, just promoting CNG.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess this is the—this car is one car that you’re pointing to; you said that you’ve called the company; you really wanted to…

MR. SHEDD:  We didn’t call them.  We were at the Earth Summit at the Convention Center where they had this car displayed.  And so we asked them at that point in time when we are making our rounds, Is this available; could we get some of these decals?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And if I went to their website, which is their way to promote this car throughout the nation, I mean, it says—let me read what their website says.  It says, When GM needed to promote their ethanol fuel technology, the new hybrid vehicles, they created an ad campaign called Live Green Go Yellow.  And obviously it’s the car’s reflection of that campaign, correct?

MR. SHEDD:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And I’m wondering, you know, does that seem like there’s a relation to you there?  Once we decide to put on their vehicle, I mean, for them and we’re adding value to them?  I mean, does that seem like, you know, one might call an association?  I think we can definitely say it’s an association.  But at some point, does it turn into a partnership with a private company?
MR. SEMMES:  You’d see the same thing, sir, if you’re driving on 80 and you look at the fuel-cell partnership.  There are a whole bunch of different companies out there because we’re relying on the private sector to come up with this stuff for us, and we’re trying to promote these technologies to get them adopted because you want to reduce petroleum or reduce our emissions or greenhouse gases or whatever it may be.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. SEMMES:  So it’s got a long history and it seems appropriate to us.  But again, you know, case-by-case basis, we will happily work with your office to get something that you feel is more appropriate because we want to make sure that our folks are excited about these technologies but not go overboard if that’s the way you think it is.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  No.  I guess the question I have is, given the website’s purpose to sell cars, and given the fact that you have a car or you have an association with the website and now in question is, why we bought cars from GM in such a large number, I guess, you know, the question is, Is there an association there that doesn’t need to be there, as you said, Mr. Semmes, that, you know, could give the impression of odd relationships?  And I think, you know, is that part of that?  Can we avoid that?  I mean, can we in essence say these types of relationships between companies and on state cars should happen at all in terms of the company’s name?  I think that’s the real question.  I mean, maybe you don’t see…
MR. SEMMES:  I mean, the fuel-cell vehicles have Ballard written on the back, and there’s a huge Ballard sign up on the fuel-cell collaborative on I-80.  It’s been there for many years, along with a lot of other companies.  So, I mean, these are companies that are going out ahead.  I mean, they’re putting—they’re investing in a technology that we’re trying to promote, and they want to get it out there because they want the infrastructure to be built for it, whether it’s hydrogen or it’s CNG or whatever it might be.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  And is Ballard the only company that does that?

MR. SEMMES:  No.  And that’s why there are other fuel-cell companies from Ford that have different names on there, so, I mean, it’s just…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  We buy all of our fuel cells from Ballard?

MR. SEMMES:  We don’t own these.  These are loaned to us.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  And how many flex-fuel E85 vehicles are from other manufacturers that we purchased?

MR. SEMMES:  Quite a number actually.

MR. SHEDD:  There’s some, in the past year, there’s been Ford Tauruses.  There have been, I believe, some Dodge products that have been on state contract in the past year.

MR. SEMMES:  So there are quite a number of different…

MR. SHEDD:  There’s the Ford Crown Victoria E85 currently on state contract.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And all of those were purchased in the last round or these were ____ standard cars?

MR. SHEDD:  The Tauruses and the Dodges in past years, we’re going back in time.

MR. SEMMES:  So remember, in ’02 and ’03, Ford was the only bidder on that same contract, that GM was the only bidder on it in ’06.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And was Ford—would Ford have qualified to bid with GM in the last round?

MR. SEMMES:  In ’06?  They didn’t choose to bid on it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But they weren’t qualified to bid?

MR. SEMMES:  They didn’t choose to get their vehicles certified by ARB for sale in the state of California because they just didn’t—I guess they didn’t feel it was a market worth investing in at that stage.  The next year, they did and they won the bid.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But that was the same year you changed the policy, correct?  I mean, in other words, the policy changed; and so if you’re Ford, you’re going, well, wait a minute.  You know, the policy’s changed now and maybe they could have gotten…
MR. SEMMES:  If you’re ready to dive into that bid, you want to put this away and we’ll dive into the next section?
SENATOR FLOREZ:  No.  I’ll go through my questions.

MR. SEMMES:  Okay.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We’ll get to it, though.

MR. SEMMES:  Okay.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How often have you looked at the DGS, has looked at the GM website, the Live Green Go Yellow website, that matches the car of which we’ve asked for their decals?  I mean, it’s kind of a matching set.  The website matches the car; the car matches the website.  I mean, how often do we actually monitor what’s on the website itself?

MR. SHEDD:  I don’t know…

MR. SEMMES:  That would be a public affairs—public affairs would have to look at it.  We’d have to ask public affairs.  It’s something that they would regularly monitor, I would imagine.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is Public Affairs here?  This is a public event.  Are they here?

MR. SHEDD:  I don’t believe so; I don’t believe so.
MR. SEMMES:  We can get that answer for you.  But generally, you would…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Have you ever looked…

MR. SHEDD:  We’ve gone on the website in our office to see what was on it, correct, but not weekly or monthly basis.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And so is it safe to say that someone from DGS has actually gone on to see the website once, twice, weekly, monthly…

MR. SHEDD:  Well, I know we’ve been on it at least once.

MR. SEMMES:  We’re encouraging people to use the technology.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.

MR. SHEDD:  At least.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is once sufficient from your vantage point?  I mean, everything’s on the website that one might say it may not match the governor’s own policies, for example, in terms of various…

MR. SEMMES:  Well, it’s the state’s policy to promote alternative fuel, so this is just one of those efforts.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Just a general question.  What do you think the purpose of the website is?

MR. SEMMES:  It’s like a yellow-pages document.  It just tells you about the company and what they do.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But you haven’t seen the website?  My view of the website—have you seen the website?

MR. SEMMES:  No.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It seems that the website would be saying, to me, is to sell cars; is that correct?

MR. SEMMES:  Okay.  Well, we can promote the technology.  You know, Ford’s doing the same thing.  They’re promoting ethanol, and a lot of ethanol is coming from corn these days.  Switch grass, the enzymes haven’t been worked out for switch grass yet but they’re working on it, and we’ll see that technology get going.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  And GM, at least from our understanding of the website, is to promote ethanol-fuel technology.  Is that your understanding as well?

MR. SHEDD:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. SHEDD:  At least that’s what we saw when we…
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.  Let me ask some questions about the Impala, if I could.  We can get more specific about this.

Now the stickers, you mentioned, how they got onto, how they got from the website to national campaign and onto the car again, can you take us through that?

MR. SHEDD:  Well, they got onto the car when we saw this particular decal, if you will, body wrap, whatever you want to call it, displayed at various Clean Air events in which they would have—they’ve got a Tahoe, I believe, also.  You’re probably familiar with that one.  They’ve got the Impala.  There may be others, but those are the two that I’m familiar with.  We had been, in our office, looking to get some type of display on one of our vehicles because we’re asked to participate in these events pretty frequently.  We were asked to put some of our DGS vehicles on the steps of the Capitol when the governor signed one of the executive orders.  We were asked to participate in the GTC conference.  And this has been going on as a regular event.  So I had my staff look into what it would cost us to get some type of a body wrap on the vehicles, and it was fairly expensive and we didn’t want to spend the money.
The next time we came across this vehicle—and I believe it was at the Earth Summit at the Convention Center where they had a vehicle like this displayed and they had the regional manager for General Motors was there with his vehicle—we broached the subject and asked if this was a part number or something that we could get for one of our vehicles.  He said he would look into it.  And the next thing you know, we got the part and they sent someone over to install it for us, and away we went.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And was it this vehicle—was it purchased or is this a loan?

MR. SHEDD:  It’s a purchased vehicle.  We own the vehicle.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And under which contract was it purchased?

MR. SHEDD:  The state vehicle contract.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And was that part of a competitive bid process?

MR. SHEDD:  Yes, sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And was it purchased as a separate vehicle?  Was it part of the larger…

MR. SHEDD:  I’m fairly certain it was part of the larger vehicles that we bought, many vehicles during that contract.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what agency was it assigned to?

MR. SHEDD:  It was our vehicle per Department of General Services.  We were keeping this vehicle for the purposes of using it, just as I’d described for events like that, taking it to meetings, getting high visibility for the type of alternative fuel that it used.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And ultimately—so this was kind of a vehicle that we bought, taxpayer-money vehicle that’s sitting in a garage waiting for a show to happen?

MR. SHEDD:  No. We would take it to meetings and use it for daily transportation.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And did it ever use the E85?

MR. SHEDD:  Well, it’s been parked since…

MR. SEMMES:  It’s using E85 now since we put the…
MR. SHEDD:  It was installed.  It would be using E85, but we’re under your instructions not to move it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  Okay.  Under my instruction—wow, I’ve got a lot of power.  No.  I guess the question I have is, we have this car that we take to shows and we talk about various, you know, to promote, you know.  Was this at a governor press conference?

MR. SHEDD:  This vehicle?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  Was it at one of the governor’s press conferences?

MR. SHEDD:  No, sir, not this vehicle.  I’ve seen other vehicles.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, but this vehicle.

MR. SHEDD:  No, sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  This vehicle was at what show, for example?

MR. SHEDD:  I believe the only time it went to any kind of a—it wasn’t a show per se, but it was a fleet management conference in Sonoma.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And did it have any E85 in it when it was at the Fleet conference in Sonoma?

MR. SHEDD:  I don’t know if we had our tank up and running by the time it made that trip or not.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Is it safe to say it didn’t?

MR. SHEDD:  Well, it’s likely it didn’t.  If we left, I don’t know the date of the trip to coincide with when our tank was operational.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The decals again, they weren’t on the car when it arrived?

MR. SHEDD:  No, sir.  We had to order them.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And so the decals aren’t standard equipment?

MR. SHEDD:  No.  They don’t come with every Impala.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Is it fair to say that the decals are custom?

MR. SHEDD:  Well, I don’t know if I’d call them custom.  They’re made by the manufacturer for those, whoever they have manufacture them.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And did you—how did you come about picking this particular package?  You said there were various packages to pick from GM.  I mean, this matches the website.  I’m just kind of wondering ___ website.

MR. SHEDD:  No.  We asked the General Motors representative if they had  s vehicle that they used.  I believe it’s their company vehicle that they display with, if they had—if we had the ability to get the decals similar to the ones that they had.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And I guess the reason I asked that is that earlier we were having the discussion about the policy and the process for DGS when we have private companies that want to advertise on state vehicles.  And was there an ability, even though you bought the package, for you to say, look, you know, we don’t think we want to put—let’s leave the website decal off or let’s only use decals that say flex fuels that actually promote the technology, but let’s not go so far as to actually push a particular company called GM.  I mean, could we have done that?

MR. SHEDD:  Well, in hindsight, we probably should have done that.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And why do you say we should have?

MR. SHEDD:  Well, because we wouldn’t be here talking about it today if we had done that
SENATOR FLOREZ:  But earlier you said everything is—I think Mr. Semmes said everything was fine.  We do it all the time.  Why would you feel more comfortable coming to talk about this than we do it all the time and we have a list of other…
MR. SHEDD:  I think the issue you’ve raised is the website.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. SHEDD:  With the logo on the vehicle itself.  We have other vehicles that—Ford vehicles, Honda vehicles, other types of vehicles—that have decals on them that advertise the clean fuel per se, whether it be propane or compressed natural gas.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of the request that was done by the fleet manager, yourself, Mr. Semmes…

MR. SHEDD:  There was conversation between our alt-fuel manager who works for me and our fleet manager who manages the fleet for DGS, and we had been talking about this for some time, just in general, about getting some kind of a body wrap or decal, something to display our alternative-fuel vehicles.  And in this case, the Impala that we had, when we saw the bright-colored displays that General Motors had—on this, we’ve never seen one, quite frankly, before by other companies like that.  We were taken by it.  We thought it would really stand out.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And this was Mr. Okabayashi that asked, or was he part of the decision making?

MR. SHEDD:  Mr. Okabayashi?  He doesn’t work for us, no.  He’s the General Motors western regional manager, I believe.  He would be the person that we asked if we could get the details from.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I see.  Okay.  And so he’s actually GM’s government fleet?

MR. SHEDD:  I believe that’s his title, correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And so he didn’t request that you--we, the state, asked?

MR. SHEDD:  We asked.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the consultation, where does the top of this end, the top of the food chain?  Who gets to say the final no, we don’t want to put advertising on these cars?

MR. SHEDD:  Well, it was at my level that the decision was made, and our chief, who I report to, would have not been directly involved in the decision making but would have been made aware of it, that we had gotten decals and put it among our vehicle.  That would have been the process.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Does legal counsel look at what’s, if you will, placement of promotional materials?  Do they look at this through the process or is this something…

MR. SHEDD:  This was not run through our legal counsel, no, sir.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And did it concern anyone at DGS in this process that, you know, that this was a mimic or a matching of GM’s promotional national advertising campaign on a …

MR. SHEDD:  Nothing had been brought, its ever been brought to my attention, that there was any concerns for these vehicles.

Again, we had the Earth Day event at our General Services headquarters for this vehicle as well as Fords and Mercedes Benzes and other vehicles with similar types of decals were displayed, the Green Summit at the Convention Center, that our agency sponsored where vehicles like this were displayed, the events at the Capitol where multiple vehicles like this.  It’s never been brought to my attention that there’s been a concern with that.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Did anyone then object at DGS in terms of this particular campaign decals promotional?

MR. SHEDD:  Again, it’s never been brought to my attention that there’s been any objections to it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The cost again, you mentioned, was one was rather expensive.  Did we opt for the lower cost?

MR. SHEDD:  No.  When we went out to the vendors in the community here that do body wraps for vehicles—you’ve seen them--a lot of companies have them on their vehicles.  To find out what something like that would cost to put on one our vehicles because again, we’re continually being asked to display a vehicle at some type of event; and the cost, I don’t know exactly what the cost was.  I know it was cost prohibitive.  We didn’t want to spend that money.  So when we saw the General Motors vehicle at one of these events again, we asked if this was a part that we could get to find out how much it was, they in turn provided us with the decals at no charge.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  No charge?

MR. SHEDD:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So we’re clear…

MR. SHEDD:  That’s my understanding.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  There was no payment for the decals placed on the Impala.  This was given by GM to the state to put on our state cars?

MR. SHEDD:  That’s my understanding.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And so GM—did we ever reimburse GM, or is this just a GM gift to the state?

MR. SHEDD:  It’s my understanding there’s been no cost incurred by the state.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And given that—I don’t know how to put it.  I’ll put it bluntly, I guess.  So given they gave us the decals and given that they were, at some point in time, you know, having discussions with the Air Board about pilot projects and trying to get into, if you will, the mix—and there was an upcoming contract, I assume, that you we were going to be bidding on—do you think that the decision to allow a state vehicle to be used in this manner was appropriate, looking back?

MR. SHEDD:  Yes, sir, I do.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You do?

MR. SHEDD:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And we’ve continued—we’re going to continue…

MR. SHEDD:  With the exception of perhaps the dot.com portion of it.

MR. SEMMES:  That’s the thing that we’re saying, is that honestly it’s one car.  We will take that off.  It’s not a big deal.  We don’t see it as a giant deal.  Obviously, it didn’t even make it up the chain of command.  I hadn’t even seen the vehicle before this, and we’ve got these fuel cells which are quite visible with F-Cell, you know, written up the side of the thing and the names of the companies—Mercedes Benz and all sorts of other stuff on there.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why take off, from your vantage point, why take off the dot.com?

MR. SEMMES:  If you’re uncomfortable with it, Senator, that’s the whole…

MR. SHEDD:  The issues that you have raised and the concerns you have for it.

MR. SEMMES:  We will respect, you know, that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Given that we don’t have a state policy…

MR. SEMMES:  You know, we want people to explore the technology.  And right now the vehicle manufacturers are the ones who are promoting it online.  So, you know, we don’t see it as that big a deal.  But if it is to you, by all means.  It’s not going to cause us any sweat.  We didn’t pay for it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  Well, that’s the problem, that we didn’t pay for it.  I think you hit on it.  It was given to us, and then at the same time, we were—by a company…

MR. SEMMES:  We did the same thing with all these other cars, though.  We didn’t pay for these decals on the propane cars and CNG cars and the fuel-cell cars.  It’s the same history for…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.

MR. SEMMES:  …well over ten years.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.  And did we ask all of those companies to give us free decals for our…

MR. SEMMES:  I think it actually came with the car.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Those came with the car?

MR. SEMMES:  I believe so, but I’d have to go case by case.  Again, we’ve got 500 CNG cars with CNG written on it so we’ve have to find out.  And some of those that are going back to 1994.  It might be a challenge, but we’re very happy to look into it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, you wrote—and I guess the reason I ask is—you wrote the committee and you said that the decals were some part of it, if you will, some sort of nominal, promotional effort.  I mean, do you see that today as...
MR. SEMMES:  One car out of 50,000 seems pretty nominal to me.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So you’re using the one car as the basis, not necessarily the policy of it, but just having one car.

MR. SEMMES:  I see exactly what you’re saying, but it is one car.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And again, having the one car is both supposed to promote the E85 technology?

MR. SEMMES:  Well, we show it at the stuff that Rick’s talking about.  We hope it does.  You know, we’ve got people fired up about it.  I mean, again, CHP buying—this is the first time law enforcement has even bought pursuit vehicles, as far as we know, that are alternative fuel.  I mean, that’s a huge win, I think, for the alternative-fuel effort that we’re trying to do here to green the fleet.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  These are the Fords?

MR. SEMMES:  Um-hmm, Fort Crown Vics.  Those are 2008 models going form the ’07 contract.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I guess our—well, before I go off that, the CHP does have ethanol, correct?  I mean, they’re going to have a supply of ethanol?

MR. SEMMES:  They’re going to fill up at the state garage to begin.  And then when we get the larger tank at the state garage retrofitted, then we’ll take that temporary tank that we have there—it’s actually a movable tank—and we’ll move that over to CHP; so that when those vehicles come through to get light bars put on or whatever, we’ll fill them up with that just to make it more convenient to them.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But when does all that occur so we can get charged up and excited that CHP’s using an E85 vehicle?

MR. SHEDD:  Well, it’s my understanding—we haven’t spoken to them—that the vehicles are on order; they’re in the process of being manufactured and will be arriving as soon as that process is done.  What I also understand about their process, having been to their facility, is once they hit the ground, then they go through their assembly plant to wire them and put the lighting and things of that nature.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So we shouldn’t get too excited about the CHP yet.

MR. SEMMES:  I think it’s pretty cool.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So when is that going to happen?

MR. SEMMES:  So that’s probably going to happen this winter.  When are those cars getting manufactured?
MR. SHEDD:  The vehicles are in the process of being manufactured now.

MR. SEMMES:  Right.  So they start taking delivery this winter, so it looks to us like it’s going to be pretty good timing.

MR. SHEDD:  The order’s been placed, and it usually doesn’t take but a few weeks for the vehicles to starting coming out basically.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask you a bit about what I think I mentioned earlier which is some sort of, from GM’s perspective, getting some value from, you know, this particular decal route package.  And you’re saying the state gets value.  I assume, do you see GM gets value, I assume?

MR. SEMMES:  Well, I we hope the public gets value because we’re promoting alternative fuel.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.

MR. SEMMES:  And a whole technology.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  …keep doing that but I mean it’s kind of embarrassing to say that when we never put E85 in it.

MR. SEMMES:  Well, we do now.  I know.  You know what?  We do now.  There’s a…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We’re getting value from it; we’re getting value from it…

MR. SEMMES:  We talked about this last week, Senator, which is, you’ve got a chicken-and-egg issue.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  You keep bringing it up.  I’m trying to save you from going back to the last hearing.  But the point is, is that, you know, right now we’re trying to figure out what the policy is for a relationship with a company that, you know, from my vantage point, has, you know, won a contract in a way that looks very sole source to me.  It’s just my opinion.  But what I’m trying to get is just your particular policy.  I mean, we are the legislative oversight committee that oversees DGS and that’s why we’re here and we’re circling and dancing around, and I appreciate it.  I mean, it’s very useful.  But I’m still trying to figure out ultimately what the policy should be for, you know, for example, the California Constitution prohibits a gift of any public money or thing of value to a corporation.  That’s the California Constitution.  Okay.  So when you put a sticker and an advertisement on a car, one might argue that that is a thing of value, and I think it would be a thing of value, quite frankly, for GM, unless you don’t…

MR. SEMMES:  You have to remember, sir, that 50,000 cars that the state  has—let’s imagine all of them were Fords.  That’s a drop in the bucket to Ford’s national manufacturing, or GM’s, or whomever it might be.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You don’t work for Ford, right?

MR. SEMMES:  No.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I mean, you work for the State of California.  So, you know, I guess, from Ford’s perspective…

MR. SEMMES:  We’re not moving the market.  We’re trying to encourage it within the state.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand that.  But I guess, either there’s going to be value to GM on this or there’s no value to GM.  Do you think…

MR. SEMMES:  It would be the same value as any CNG manufacturer, and Honda happens to be the only one.  So, you know, I mean, that’s been going on for a number of years.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But we’re not offering any of them to put their website on our cars, correct?

MR. SEMMES:  I think we’re sort of seeing that technology as now being commonplace and sort of going away.  So now the ones that we’re promoting are the ethanol.  Bio-diesel will probably be next.  But, you know, again, if it’s the website piece that’s uncomfortable, we will definitely take a look at that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  But again, I mean, we haven’t offered the kind of value we’ve offered GM.

MR. SEMMES:  I don’t think we can say that.  We certainly have with Mercedes and Ford with the fuel cell, and it looks like we have with Honda and Chevrolet and Ford and GMC and Dodge for CNG and propane.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Can we say that you’ve offered other car manufacturers the same opportunity to put their national campaign on state-owned vehicles?

MR. SEMMES:  Well, they’re on them now, so I think that the proof is in the cars, and you can see it on the cars.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the limit to that is whatever you, DGS, decide is the limit, correct?  There’s no…

MR. SEMMES:  ____ the policy.


MR. SHEDD:  From my observation, having researched this after getting your letter and looking through our archives and photographs of events that we have gone to and of the fuel-cell vehicles, I believe that the fuel-cell vehicles, the area that’s in gray from the top, the three E85 vehicles have the—probably if you want to characterize it as boldest graphics, everything else below that to make up the 1,145 vehicles have graphics that comprise of maybe a six-inch square advertising compressed natural gas or clean-air vehicle to maybe a six-by-two-foot decal advertising propane, clean-air vehicle, things of that nature.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.  We were just talking about it.  Why is this so different?  I mean, this is much larger.  I mean, this is a much larger picture.  I mean, this isn’t your square.


MR. SEMMES:  If you took off the yellow-and-green stuff…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Pretty big on it…

MR. SEMMES:  If you took of the yellow and green stuff on that rear quarter there, it’s about the same as the other cars we’ve got where its says the flex fuel.


MR. SHEDD:  If you compared that with the photograph of the Ford hydrogen vehicle, it would be very similar in the amount of graphics on the body itself.  To a lesser extent, the six fuel-cell vehicles—the three from Mercedes Benz and the three from Ford—have graphics, fairly bold graphics.


MR. SEMMES:  They’re bigger than the flex-fuel ones.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  They’re bigger than these?

MR. SEMMES:  It’s the small car so, you know.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I see.  Okay.

MR. SEMMES:  But it’s past history.  We’ve been doing it for some time.  But again, it’s one of those policies.  If you’re uncomfortable with it, we will happily work with your office to get you something that you’re more comfortable with.  But our goal is to promote greening the fleet, and we’d like to continue to do that in a way that you’re comfortable with.


MR. SHEDD:  And, Senator, that was our intention.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, let me state for the record, I’m comfortable with green fleets as long as we have the fuel to put it in the cars.

MR. SHEDD:  And you don’t have ________.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Maybe we shouldn’t have changed the policy.  I’d be more comfortable.


MR. SHEDD:  I’ll be glad to speak to the policy change as well.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, why don’t you speak to that?  Why would we change our policy that says, don’t make cars until the fuel’s available?  That seems to me pretty common sense. Why would that change and so rapidly?


MR. SHEDD:  The first and foremost reason that we changed it was because we were seeing a decline in the types of vehicles that we had available to meet our federal Energy Policy Act requirements.  And when General Motors stopped building the bi-fuel Cavalier, which had been staple for state agencies, we were…

MR. SEMMES:  By the way—sorry Rick—if you take a look at the exhibit we brought—that’s Exhibit G—there’s a whole foldout there.  Pablo, I’m sorry.  I didn’t get some copies to you beforehand.  This thing is huge.  I wanted to make it readable.  If you look at the—this is data from the Air Resources Board.  This is not DGS data.  We wanted to show the different models that they consider alternative-fuel vehicles, although, remember, federal EPAct doesn’t count hybrids as alternative fuel.  The ARB list them on there just to sort of promote reduction of petroleum—that you see, you know, quite a number of bi-fuel CNG in ’04; you see some in ’05; and then you see a major decline in ’06, and they completely disappear into ’07 because I just wanted to bring that to your attention because that’s ultimately Rick’s staff’s prediction and it was quite true.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And so the decline is due to what?


MR. SEMMES:  Rick, you want to…


MR. SHEDD:  The decline is due to the manufacturing.  The manufacturers are no longer building those types of vehicles.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And has that decline moved you—we’ve made a decision to in essence move to the E85?


MR. SHEDD:  That’s what my staff…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is it fair to say hybrids rose at the same period?


MR. SEMMES:  Remember, hybrids don’t help us meet federal EPAct requirements.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  If you had applied for the right section of it…


MR. SEMMES:  You mean in ’07?  This was the ’06 purchase  year, so that just came out this year.  We couldn’t have applied for...


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me ask the question, are you going to apply for that then, given that…


MR. SEMMES:  We’re not planning to, and that’s why no other states did.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So what’s the difference?  Why are you taking me back to a year and you’re still not going to apply for…


MR. SEMMES:  D.C. and New York State, and that’s it.  The New York State Department of Transportation and D.C. are the only ones who applied, aside from utilities, according to Linda Bluestein at the Department of Energy ____ talked to a number of times.  That was the last time I talked to her.  She said that’s it, that out of 314 entities, only something like ten had actually even applied.  And most of those already have major alternative fueling efforts ongoing today.  And so that’s how they were able to qualify because they’re already using a lot of alternative fuel, and we’re trying to build that capacity in the state, and that’s why you see that 25 million bucks in the 2006 Budget Act to fund alternative fueling stations from the public and therefore for us to use.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess I just—I don’t see—you know, you’re showing me a trend that starts actually in ’05 in terms of the decline of various manufacturers.  I mean, manufacturers will rise to the occasion, I assume, on what the policy is.  And if the policy changes…

MR. SEMMES:  Yes, but remember, California state purchases don’t move vehicle manufacturers.  It’s a tiny percentage of vehicles that they buy.  So, you know, we have to recognize where the market’s going and adjust accordingly.  That’s why we’re trying all these different technologies, whether it’s fuel cell or ethanol or bio-diesel or whatever it might be.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, that’s interesting.  So we don’t move, so our purchases or our efforts are moved more by the manufacturers in our own…


MR. SEMMES:  Well, the nation is probably a greater purchaser of vehicles.  I think in the state of California, it’s a few thousand every year.  But remember, we’re trying to promote greening the fleet within the departments that use these vehicles.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Okay.  Let’s go back to just a few more questions, and then we can have some other questions, a few more.


MR. SEMMES:  On the decals, Senator?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Go back to the conference you mentioned, the Rohnert Park Conferences the car went to.


MR. SHEDD:  I believe it was a Fleet Managers Conference.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Was that driven to the management conference from Sacramento?


MR. SHEDD:  That’s my understanding.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And who requested that this vehicle be at that event?


MR. SHEDD:  I don’t know if anyone requested that that vehicle be at that event.  We had signed up one of our staff to attend the event, and it’s my understanding that that’s when it coincided with us getting, you know, the wrap had been done or the decals had been installed.  That would have been a perfect opportunity for us to take the vehicle and showing if off.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of that conference—or was it a conference?


MR. SHEDD:  I believe it was some type of a Fleet Management Conference.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Who sponsors that?  Is that a government sponsored…


MR. SHEDD:  No.  I believe it’s a private-sector fleet management consulting company, from my understanding, out of San Diego, I believe.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And this particular car was featured at the conference at a GM booth?


MR. SHEDD:  I wasn’t at the conference.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  That’s what we understand.  People have told us, the committee, that, you know, we take a state car with a GM decal package on it, in which we have nominal relationships with or a nominal, and then we park it right in the GM promotional area with a state worker on time—state time.  I mean, it just seems—I  mean, does that, is that nominal promotion?


MR. SEMMES:  I don’t think we can say that happened or not, from our point of view, so we’d have to check on that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, we can tell you, it did.  You can check on it.  But I’m just wondering how that happens.  You’re very quick to point to state law that says, you know, we can absolutely—what was the state law that you mentioned at the beginning of the hearing on…


MR. SEMMES:  AB 413/8413 ??.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  But there’s also a Government Code called 19993 ?? which talks about what you can do on state business.  You’ve mentioned it as well.  But, I mean, if you’re a state employee driving a state car with GM products to a private-vendor conference and parking your car in GM’s stall with no E85 in it, I mean, I’m just kind of wondering, does that seem…

MR. SEMMES:  We have to find out if the car got fueled up with the tank that’s in the state garage and…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, was there a state worker in the car?  I mean, did it get driven by Byron Rush ?? ?  Did he drive it up there?


MR. SHEDD:  Again, we had an employee who signed up to attend that conference.  I believe that’s the person who attended it, correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  Okay.  Let me just ask you a question.  Is it appropriate for a state car to be parked in the GM vendor booth, vendor exhibition, ride-and-drive booth, which was on Thursday, June 7?  I mean, is that the appropriate use for this vehicle?   You mentioned earlier what we do with it.  I mean, does that seem like the appropriate, a DGS-approved event?  Someone signed off on that and said, get in your car and go to a private show and park it in the GM—and yet we don’t call it a relationship or an association or a promotion?


MR. SHEDD:  It’s my understanding the event was attended by fleet managers from Northern California, public and private, showing off what technologies they had and they were employing.  And if there was a ride and drive, that would have been consistent with most any of the types of conferences, fleet-oriented conferences, I’ve ever been to because that’s not…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why park it; why take it to the GM booth?  I mean, why not park it, you know, as part of a whole cadre of various technologies?  I mean, why take—I get it if it’s GM’s car and I get it if it’s GM’s car that they put in their booth.  I mean, first, they give us the decals; now we say there’s no relationship for them giving us the decals.  You know, we take a state car and park it in their…

MR. SEMMES:  I think we’d have to take a look at that and find out from Byron what his story is.

MR. SHEDD:  We have a Ford attend events for us; we have Mercedes Benz; we have General Motors; we have Honda.  If you want to call it a booth, I guess you could, but they typically have areas where they will display their wares, sometimes storyboards behind them, talking points about the technology that they’re showing off.  That’s fairly commonplace in the fleet business.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I get it.  But does it strike you as not a good thing to take it and park at the GM booth?  I mean, it’s just a simple question.


MR. SEMMES:  You remember, this is a case-by-case basis on this sort of stuff and you’ve got to use your judgment, and so we’ve got to find out what he really did from the employee’s point of view before we, in a public testimony like this, accuse him of doing something that he may not have seen as anything wrong.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. SEMMES:  I mean, I think we’ve got to give him the benefit of the doubt to find out what the story is.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s forget him and—if anybody had done that, would that have been consistent with DGS’s—let’s give him the benefit of the doubt.  Let’s assume…


MR. SEMMES:  We can get into hypotheticals here but…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  That is a hypothetical, a direct question.  Would you allow someone, anyone, to drive a state car with a decal package from GM, which we have an association with, or don’t, and take it to a private vendor’s booth and display it?  I mean, would you allow that any time?

MR. SEMMES:  We’d have to do a case-by-case basis.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  If they wanted to do it tomorrow, would you let him do it?


MR. SEMMES:  We have to find out what the plan is, just like you saw a lot of deliberations there with DGS not being satisfied with the way GM is promoting its original flex-fuel stuff back in ’06 with the LA Auto Show where we were saying, hey, we don’t want the state recognizing the stuff, so I think there’s precedent for that, and we’d have to take a case-by-case basis to find out what the deal is.  If GM was the only booth up there and that’s where all the cars were, you know, where else is he going to go?  Park it out in the parking lot somewhere?  I mean, we’d have to take a case-by-case basis to figure that out because it doesn’t happen very often.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Normally at these shows, it’s a big show, I assume.  I mean, is GM going to be the only booth at the whole show?


MR. SEMMES:  Again, we’ve got to find out from the employee what it is.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Is this the GM Auto Show, or is this a show that featured a lot of different vendors?


MR. SHEDD:  It’s my understanding it was…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You approved it, the state worker went in a car.  I mean, so who knew about it?  Who knew about the conference?  Let’s start there.


MR. SHEDD:  Well, I approved the employee to go.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Did he tell you where he was going?


MR. SHEDD:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Did you have any idea where he was going, what kind of show it was?


MR. SHEDD:  Yes, sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is there typically just one GM vendor there, one booth, or are there lots of booths?


MR. SHEDD:  I’ve never been to the show.  I don’t know if it’s a show that hosts, you know, has vendors, if it’s management professionals exchanging information. 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Then give me your general understanding why you approved it then.


MR. SHEDD:  Because it was fleet related; we could learn some information from this fleet company putting on the educational seminars, exchange information with other fleet managers who were there to see what technologies they were employing, that type of thing.  That’s generally what happens.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And I guess then, what was the purpose—if that was your thought process, and then why take this car?  Why not take the Honda?  Why not take the many cars that you were talking about earlier?  I mean, why take this particular car, the GM car?

MR. SHEDD:  Again, I don’t know if it had been planned to take this GM car, but that would have been a natural vehicle to take to an event like that, would have been the reason that we did put those graphics on that event to get it out there in the public eye.


MR. SEMMES:  And show California that we’re trying to green the fleet with the different technology.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  To show that California is the greenest fleet.


MR. SEMMES:  Not the greenest, but we’re greening.  That’s the key, is it’s an ongoing process.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Got it.  So we’re going to take our state car and say, this is our best effort, correct, one of California’s best effort, in greening our fleet?  But yet we didn’t put one drop of ethanol in it before it left here, right?


MR. SEMMES:  We’d have to find that out.  We don’t know.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Where would you put it?  Where would you fill it up?

MR. SEMMES:  At the state garage.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And when did the state garage get its…

MR. SHEDD:  That is where the vehicle’s parked.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Got it.  The state garage have an ethanol tank at that time?

MR. SHEDD:  I don’t know the dates in which the conference took place so…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We went over the last hearing.  It didn’t have a tank at that time.  It has a tank now, I assume, right?

MR. SHEDD:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Since the last hearing, right?  Right.  So, I mean, rather than say we’re not sure where he parked, we’re not sure what he did with it, we’re not sure if it was in ethanol, why don’t we just say it like it is?  Is there a high probability it had no ethanol in it, going to a show to promote California’s greening of the fleet?

MR. SEMMES:  If the infrastructure’s not there yet, remember, it’s the chicken-and-the-egg thing.  We’ve got to have the cars before the fuel comes in.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Then just…
MR. SEMMES:  It probably didn’t have the E85 in it, but we don’t know for sure and we want to check it out.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  That’s a hedge but we got a little further.

Let me ask you a question about the—where is the Impala now parked?

MR. SHEDD:  I beg your pardon.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  The Impala.  Where is it parked now?
MR. SHEDD:  The same place it was parked when those photographs you sent to us were—I believe it’s the state garage.

MR. SEMMES:  We took it out of service at your request.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Did we request it be taken out of service?  Okay.  And so what are you going to do with it now?

MR. SEMMES:  Well, we’d like to put it back into service.  But I think at this stage, we probably ought to get some folks from your office to come over and take a look at those decals and really talk about it.  And if we can come to an agreement that you’re happy with what we change or do whatever to make you happy with it, then we’ll do that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. SEMMES:  And then, you know, take a look at the other vehicles as well that are there.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. SEMMES:  But I think you’ll be comfortable with it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me just ask a couple more questions, if I could, about the other vehicles, state-owned vehicles with decals.  You mentioned you did send us the list and you gave us the list.  I guess the question I have is, the vehicles owned or leased by the state that have a decal, that are E85 or similar language, how many do we have?

MR. SEMMES:  I believe it’s three that are like this one, but some of the old methanol cars are still there that have, you know, Powered by Clean Methanol, that sort of thing, as well.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So three.  And how many vehicles that we own or lease have a decal reading Flex-Fuel Vehicle or similar language?

MR. SHEDD:  That we own, we have these three.  We have the Impala, and then there’s two pickup trucks, to my knowledge, that have something to a lesser degree but a decal across the top of the windshield, that Live Green logo that says E85 Ethanol.

MR. SEMMES:  But other state departments may have…
SENATOR FLOREZ:  The Live Green Go Yellow campaign, GM’s campaign, those cars, we have how many?
MR. SHEDD:  We have the one Impala and then two pickup trucks.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So we have three?

MR. SHEDD:  Correct.

MR. SEMMES:  Other state agencies may have other flex-fuel stuff on them, but we don’t think there are any with that Live Green Go Yellow logo on it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So I’m just trying to get a distinction here for my grid.  So of the GM campaign on the website that is a promotional campaign to sell cars, we have on our state vehicles three of those same logos, correct?  Live Green Go Yellow, right?
MR. SHEDD:  It’s my understanding that the photos that I’ve seen of the two pickup trucks don’t have the dot.com.  They have the logo, and then next to the logo it says E85 Ethanol.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the cars that just have Flex-Fuel Vehicle alone without  any of the other stuff, how many cars?  Same three?

MR. SHEDD:  Well, in our fleet, those are the only three with decals on them.

MR. SEMMES:  There may be others in the general state fleet in the remaining, you know, 40-some-odd thousand.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And how many other vehicles again have vehicle manufacturer, national advertising campaigns, on them?  You mentioned other…

MR. SEMMES:  Surely.  The fuel cells or the CNGs, the propanes, they certainly have…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And those are matching, does it have matching national advertising campaigns?

MR. SEMMES:  These are older, so I doubt it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Is it fair to say zero?

MR. SEMMES:  I’d have to take a closer look at that.

MR. SHEDD:  There’s a CNG label on several vehicles I’ve noticed on Hondas in the back area of the trunk lids and on the sides.  And then there are some General Motors Cavaliers, bi-fuel Cavaliers, that have similar, triangular-shaped logos, as well as I’ve seen on the side a label that says GM Alt-Fuel Vehicle.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And how many of the cars have non-standard decal grading ?? Chevrolet, just like the one I’m looking at, on the top, meaning, that alone, Chevrolet, without anything else?

MR. SHEDD:  You mean the pickup trucks?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  No.  Just how many have these, of our state cars have or at least…
MR. SHEDD:  Well, of our General Services vehicles, that’s the only one I’m aware of, and then the two pickup trucks.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the two pickup trucks?  So that’s three again, correct?

MR. SHEDD:  That are owned by General Services, correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Same three, right.  And in terms of the websites, those that have an address for websites, that’s the only cars we have that have websites on them as well, the three?

MR. SHEDD:  Well, I don’t think there’s websites on the pickup trucks.  I believe the website is exclusive to the Impala, and I believe the only other websites that I’ve heard mentioned would be associated with either the Mercedes or the Ford fuel-cell vehicles.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I gotcha.  And again, so the advertising on the car, whether it be the Chevrolet or Live Green Go Yellow or flex-fuel vehicles or E85, those all were under the purview of your department and you have a rolling policy?  Or the policy is case-by-case, ad hoc—if I want to put it—you can put anybody that approached you, as long as they said...

MR. SEMMES:  We approached them in this particular case.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m just saying—what’s that?

MR. SHEDD:  I’m unaware of anyone ever approaching us.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Dealers come up to you?

MR. SHEDD:  Well, in my experience, I’ve never heard of that happening.  I can’t discount it may never happen, but it’s never come to my attention.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why don’t we allow; I mean, why don’t we do that?  It helps…

MR. SEMMES:  You’re promoting individual dealers.  That really is a conflict because we’re buying from them.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And the manufacturer is…

MR. SEMMES:  We’re buying from the dealer.  I mean, you know…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So every dealer can—you’re buying from the dealers, but we’re picking a technology that only certain dealers can, in essence—are we buying from a whole bunch of dealers or we just buying…

MR. SEMMES:  We’re buying from the lowest bidder. These are invitations for bids, not RSPs ??, and GM happened to be the only bidder on that one; whereas in ’02 and ’03, Ford was the only bidder on the same, exact four-door sedan.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.  But, I mean, from the state’s perspective, what’s better to—I mean, is GM better to promote than the dealers?  I mean, if you’re getting the lowest bid and the dealer won, I mean, why not say, hey, this is the lowest dealer in California?  Shafter Holiday Ford is the lowest dealer in terms of, so let’s promote them.  I mean, ultimately, it sounds as though you’re picking a technology in which dealers make bids, correct?

MR. SEMMES:  Well, we’ve developed the specifications and then they bid on the specifications.  And whoever the lower bidder is on an IFB ?? wins.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I gotcha.  Okay.  Just a couple more questions.  In terms of the other alternative fuels, you mentioned, Mr. Semmes earlier.  Next might be bio-diesel; next might be other types of alternative fuels.  I mean…

MR. SEMMES:  Sure.  Electric may be the thing, but the storage hasn’t been figured out yet.  Hydrogen, we’re still working on the storage, but manufacturers and scientists and, you know, the Federal Government is putting billions of dollars into E85.  So, I mean, you can see where the market’s going based on where the investment’s going and the research dollars.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. SEMMES:  So electricity may be next.  It seems like a pretty good win, but we just feel the battery technology is not there yet.  Plug-in hybrids are starting to come around, but that’s probably not going to be for the 09-010 model year at best.  We’d like to see them.  I mean, I’ve been driving my own car with bio-diesel for five years, and I’d love to see a plug-in diesel hybrid.  I’d get one.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. SEMMES:  But, I mean, again, it’s just one of many technologies and not one has completely fit the bill yet.  And remember, we’re buying for the needs of the agencies, not necessarily what DGS is looking for, unless it’s for its own fleet, so they have to match.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.  Is there anything that you’d like to add that I didn’t ask?

MR. SEMMES:  I’d just like to reiterate that we’d love to work with your office on these particular cars, or any of these cars, come and take a look at the garage when you fill up your own car perhaps on  E85, if that’s what you drive.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I drive a hybrid.

MR. SEMMES:  You do?  Okay.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that okay with the Air Board?  Hybrids?  Okay.  Good.

MR. SEMMES:  They put it on their list, so they’re pretty fired up about it.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  All right.  Okay.  Well, let’s—I can tell you just some general observations—and we’ll go and close the hearing—but number one, I do think we need to revisit what the policy is for advertising, private-company advertising, on state vehicles.  There’s no doubt because, you know, Mr. Semmes, you said at the very beginning of this, you know.  It’s all in the eye of the beholder, I guess; the impressions of odd relationships can occur.

MR. SEMMES:  And it’s subjective, and so we recognize that entirely.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  When you have the subjectivity in it and given kind of where we were in the last hearing, as we now have gotten some documents from the administration which they, you know—I know you’re part of the administration, but I’m talking about, you know, the Governor’s Office, you know, refused to come to the committee to give us more documents or to talk about certain…

MR. SEMMES:  Well, you know, DGS redacted some documents as well.  I’d be happy to talk about the DGS documents that were redacted that, you know, we saw that some of the documents that were redacted that we felt that would be helpful to you to just further the discussion, and so we gave those to you just last week.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We appreciate that.

MR. SEMMES:  And just remember, you’re never going to change lawyers on this one.  They’ve got that attorney/client privilege.  And when there’s discussion about where management’s asking a lawyer for advice, they’re not going to ever give that up.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand.  Is it fair to say this?  I mean, and I’ll go back to discussions we had five years ago during the oracle discussions.  Is it fair to say that the deliberative process in terms of what you bought is over?  I mean, we were…

MR. SEMMES:  For the ’06 model year, sir?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We have purchased these cars, everything that was in deliberation, and particularly in a horseshoe or whatever else the discussions occurring in the governor’s staff, I mean, that’s completed.  I mean, we’re not asking for next year’s deliberations in terms of electric vehicles or…

MR. SEMMES:  But it’s still the attorney/client privilege, and that’s it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  There’s actually a couple of court cases to give us a view of a deliberative process…

MR. SEMMES:  …boxes and boxes of stuff we gave your office.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Maybe you can help your brethren ?? in the horseshoe and maybe they can talk to you.

MR. SEMMES:  Just remember too, some of the pieces that need to get redacted are law enforcement, home addresses, and telephone numbers, vehicle identification numbers, and license plates that are cold ?? plates.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  _______ driven to the show.  We’re not asking for any of that.  I mean, I think what we’re asking for are discussions that, you know---I mean, let me just ask you the question, were you contacted by anyone in the Governor’s Office to change the policy?
MR. SEMMES:  Absolutely not, and we’ve provided the documents, and I think today in particular with this package, we show you the deliberative process that happened that is normal to go through.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But, I mean, it doesn’t show us the kinds of governor-action requests and these types of documents that someone makes a decision on.  I mean, this is part—you’re not doing this separate from the governor.  You’ve mentioned it many times.  You know, this is the governor’s initiative; it’s the greening of the fleet; it’s global warming.  The governor’s at the United Nations today talking about California’s efforts.  And at the same time, we can’t find any green fuel to put in these cars to back that up, from my vantage point.  So I just—you know—and I’m not sure why we, you know, can’t, you know, have a discussion with the administration on ultimately, when we make those big decisions to support a policy, why we either can’t find fuel or at this point can’t find documents.
MR. SEMMES:  We feel the…

SENATOR FLOREZ: …the fuel or the documents, but I think it helps us better understand, you know, from our vantage point—I can’t tell you how many bills went through the GO Committee this year, on the greening of buildings, the greening of just about everything that we could imagine on the greening efforts came through this committee, and it sure helps us quite a bit understand, you know, particularly in this case, with cars, a deliberative process case study would really help us quite a bit.

MR. SEMMES:  I think this package that we have today for you, and I know some of the stuff we’ve give you is, you know, there’s a lot of stuff and it’s a bit hard to go through.  We will be happy to go through those things with you.  I think the package today in particular, where we’re just trying to let the data speak for itself and not use fancy bar charts or something like that, just let the numbers speak for themselves, I think it proves the case.  I think Rick’s staff were prescient in their assessment of the decline in the bi-fuel CNG, and I think they made a good move.  I think we’d be wondering about, hearing about paying federal fines for not meeting EPAct requirements if they hadn’t been able to buy something that did meet them.  So I think they made a good judgment.
MR. SHEDD:  The other thing that we did during that period of time is, as we were revisiting the policy, we were looking around to see what was going on, not just in California but throughout the nation, and we were seeing the emergence of the ethanol product starting to sweep across the land.  We were seeing reports over at the Energy Commission, as far as ethanol being one of the tools that can be employed to reduce our dependence on petroleum.  So we felt that there was promise in going that way with that technology.  And obviously it’s not a perfect world and we can’t get things done as fast as we would like, not only as fast as you’d like but as fast as we’d like.  We’d love to be putting this fuel in all of our vehicles and we’re pushing for that every day, and we think we see light at the end of the tunnel.  We think we’re moving in the right direction, and we think—we’re very hopeful that we’re going to have multiple stations out there that not only General Services but Caltrans and CHP and all the other agencies that I’ve talked to are going to partner to put these tanks in and get this fuel flowing into those vehicles, so that’s our ultimate goal.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, we’d like to see that as well.

Thank you, gentlemen, very much, appreciate the testimony.

MR. SEMMES:  Thanks, Senator.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is there any public comment, anyone like to make a public comment?

Okay.  Let me close and say a couple of things before I leave.  One is that we appreciate DGS’s boxes and boxes of information.  It’s been very helpful.  We do look forward to having a discussion with the Governor’s Office on the issue of privilege and what documents this committee needs to continue to look at other facets of this contract, and we hope that they’re listening and we hope that we can start to receive some of the necessary documents to allow the committee to proceed and to continue to have dialog.  I can tell you, that if we don’t receive those documents, that we are fully prepared to go to the Senate Rules Committee to seek subpoenas or any other means to compel documents that are necessary for us to have closure on this so we can then hopefully move onto other issues, so we very much appreciate the testimony.

We’ll adjourn the Senate GO Committee.
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